AS

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS COMPENSATION COMMISSION FEB 25 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellant Case No. 2014-001788

Clarence Winfrey ..... Respondent,

v.

Archway Services Inc, Employer, and  
American Fire & Casualty Insurance Company, and  
Liberty Mutual Group, Carrier, ..... Appellants,

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

McANGUS GOUDELOCK & COURIE, L.L.C.  
Brett H. Bayne  
Meridian 10<sup>th</sup> Floor  
1320 Main Street  
P.O. Box 12519  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-2519  
(803) 779-2300

*Attorneys for Appellants, Archway Services Inc.,  
American Fire & Casualty Insurance Company,

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Full Commission err by failing to vacate the Single Commissioner Decision and Order because the Single Commissioner erred in holding the original hearing over Defendants-Appellants' objections because, by conducting the hearing and ruling on material compensability issues, the Single Commissioner operated in an appellate capacity without proper jurisdiction?
- II. Did the Full Commission err in failing to find a date on which Claimant suffered a plaque rupture in Claimant's heart?
- III. Did the Full Commission err in failing to find what caused the plaque rupture in Claimant's heart?
- IV. Did the Full Commission err in failing to find a date on which Claimant suffered a myocardial infarction?
- V. Did the Full Commission err in relying on Dr. Travis' written medical opinion when the evidence presented at the hearing and his own subsequent deposition testimony directly contradicts his written medical opinion?
- VI. Did the Full Commission err in relying on Dr. Lide's written medical opinion when the evidence presented at the hearing and his own subsequent deposition testimony directly contradicts his written medical opinion?
- VII. Did the Full Commission err in relying on Dr. Greenfield's written medical opinion when the evidence presented at the hearing and her own subsequent deposition testimony directly contradicts her written medical opinion?

- VIII. Did the Full Commission err in Finding of Fact #7 by finding that Claimant began sweating the night of the electrical shock when Claimant's own testimony refutes that finding?
- IX. Did the Full Commission err in Finding of Fact #9 that three physicians have opined the electrical shock resulted in Claimant's heart attack regardless of the date on which the heart attack occurred?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This claim arises out of an alleged accident on May 22, 2013. On that date, Claimant contends he was momentarily shocked by a rotisserie oven he was working on. Following the accident, Claimant continued to work for the remainder of the day and the following day. Claimant had scheduled time off after May 23, 2013. On May 28, 2013—six days after the accident—Claimant presented to Doctor's Care and Lexington Medical Center with severe three vessel coronary disease, an occluded coronary artery, and an acute myocardial infarction caused by a plaque rupture which caused an acute ventricular septal defect. At Doctor's Care, Claimant reported he was having no chest pressure and had started sweating that morning (on May 28th). At Lexington Medical Center, Claimant indicated he was not having chest pain but had been sweating. Following the diagnosis, Claimant underwent surgery to repair the ventricular septal defect caused by the plaque rupture and subsequent myocardial infarction. The medical records in the case revealed that Claimant has a distinct family history of coronary disease with his father passing away at a similar age from coronary disease and a myocardial infarction. Further, the medical records indicated that Claimant was a 35 year pack-a-day smoker and drank a case of beer per week. Based on all of the medical records available to Carrier, this claim was ultimately denied by verbal communication to Claimant on September 13, 2013.

Immediately following the denial of benefits, Claimant filed a Form 15, Section III requesting a hearing as well as a Summons and Complaint in Richland County Circuit Court alleging a bad faith denial of benefits, alleging that S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 is unconstitutional, seeking a temporary restraining order to stop Defendants from denying the claim, and seeking an Order from Judge Lee finding the claim compensable and

awarding benefits. Judge Lee issued and then rescinded the temporary restraining order sought by Claimant. A hearing on the merits of Claimant's Complaint has not been set by the Court. After the temporary restraining order was rescinded, the Commission set Claimant's Form 15, Section III for a hearing before Commissioner Beck. In addition, Defendants filed several motions with the Commission including a Motion to Quash the deposition of the adjuster, a Motion to Quash discovery of the adjuster's claim file, and a Motion to Postpone the Hearing.

A hearing on all of the motions and on Claimant's Form 15, Section III was set on September 30, 2013 for November 11, 2013. Prior to the hearing, Commissioner Beck conducted a standard pre-hearing conference as well as a Motions Hearing wherein Commissioner Beck ruled on all outstanding issues raised by the motions including Defendants' Motion to Postpone. Each of these motions affected the ability to conduct the Form 15 hearing and were necessary to have prior to the hearing. Commissioner Beck gave Claimant the opportunity to postpone the Form 15 hearing in order to spend time preparing for each of the motions that were timely served. Claimant turned down that opportunity. At the hearing, all parties agreed that the only issue for Commissioner Beck was to determine whether or not Defendants had conducted a good faith investigation. In order to make that determination, Commissioner Beck limited the review of evidence to only those documents produced prior to the date of denial – September 13, 2013. Following the hearing, Commissioner Beck issued a Decision and Order on December 5, 2013 finding that Defendants had conducted a good faith investigation. The subject of that hearing is currently on appeal before this Court in a separate appeal filed by Plaintiff.

On October 22, 2013, after the Form 15 hearing was set by the Commission but before that hearing was held, Claimant filed a Form 50 requesting a hearing on compensability for alleged injuries to his head, brain, left hand, left arm, chest, heart, and all other organs, members, and bodily parts. A hearing notice for the Form 50 hearing was sent by the Commission on December 6, 2013 with explicit instructions that the hearing would be to determine compensability of Claimant's alleged injuries to his head, brain, left hand, left arm, chest, heart, and all other organs, members, and bodily parts. The Form 50 hearing was held before the Single Commissioner on January 13, 2014. Following the hearing, the Single Commissioner issued a Decision and Order on February 27, 2014. Defendants-Appellants timely filed a Form 30 based on legal errors contained in the Single Commissioner's Decision and Order. The Full Commission conducted a review hearing on May 19, 2014. The Full Commission issued its Decision and Order on July 25, 2014. Defendant-Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on August 20, 2014. Thereafter, the parties entered into the voluntary pilot mediation program in an attempt to resolve this matter. Due to certain issues with obtaining records and opinions, as well as scheduling issues, this mediation did not occur until May 1, 2015. Unfortunately, the parties reached an impasse and this matter is now back before this Court on the original appeals.

### **ARGUMENT**

Claimant notified Employer he was shocked while working on a rotisserie oven on May 22, 2013. (R. pp. 200-201). Employment records of Claimant indicate that he continued working the remainder of the day and the entire following day. (R. pp. 203-204). An email from Claimant to Employer indicates that he was experiencing only neck

pain on May 27, 2013 (5 days post-accident). (R. p. 201). Claimant first presented to Doctor's Care on May 28, 2013 (6 days post-accident) complaining that he woke up sweating that morning (6 days post-accident) (R. p. 188). Claimant was treated by Dr. Greenfield at Doctors' Care. Dr. Greenfield noted that Claimant had some tenderness in his shoulder and neck area. Id. Further, Dr. Greenfield noted that Claimant did not complain of any chest pressure. Id.

Dr. Greenfield testified in her deposition that the testing she conducted could not give any indication as to when Claimant suffered the myocardial infarction. Specifically, Dr. Greenfield stated that the myocardial infarction "...could have been 5 days ago..." and further admitted that the acute myocardial infarction could have occurred the evening of May 27 or the morning of May 28. (R. p. 355, line 10-p. 356, line 8). Further, Dr. Greenfield indicated that she based portions of her opinion on articles that she read relating to electrocution from lightning strikes. When asked about these articles, Dr. Greenfield admitted the voltage involved in those articles was 10,000,000 volts—an amount that is 20,000-40,000 times higher than the voltage involved in this claim. (R. p. 371, line 19-p. 372, line 4). Additionally, Dr. Greenfield stated that Claimant presented without any chest pain. (R. p. 359, lines 5-9, p. 367, lines 3-8). Dr. Greenfield also noted the pain in Claimant's arm and shoulder was not indicative of having sustained a myocardial infarction. (R. p. 359, lines 13-25). Dr. Greenfield issued a written opinion stating Claimant's heart condition was caused by the electrical shock.

Claimant was then referred to and saw Dr. Dasgupta at the South Carolina Heart Center on May 28. Dr. Dasgupta also noted sweating and noted that Claimant denied chest pain but did have minimal left shoulder pain. (R. pp. 190-192). Dr. Dasgupta

diagnosed Claimant with an acute myocardial infarction. Id. Dr. Dasgupta indicated that Claimant had a prior history of hypertension, tobacco abuse (one pack a day smoker), as well as a significant family history for heart disease (Claimant's father passed away from coronary disease and myocardial infarction). Id. Dr. Dasgupta also noted that Claimant appeared to have a ventricular septal defect as a possible completion of his acute myocardial infarction. Id. Dr. Dasgupta referred Claimant to Lexington Medical Center where Dr. Travis performed surgery to repair an acute ventricular septal defect that formed following the myocardial infarction. (R. pp. 194-196).

Dr. Travis described the mechanism of Claimant's injury as being a plaque rupture that caused a myocardial infarction that caused the ventricular septal defect. (R. p. 411, line 24-p. 412, line 2). Dr. Travis indicated that plaque ruptures can be caused by many things including getting up the wrong way from a couch, strenuous activity, stressful events in your personal life, emotional stresses, and many other things. (R. p. 412, lines 3-11). Further, Dr. Travis was asked "...other than the timing of the heart attack...there's no way to know for certain the plaque rupture was caused by the electrical shock, is that correct?" (R. p. 412, lines 12-15). Dr. Travis response was that "[i]s there a definitive way to—collate one to another **absolutely not.**" (R. p. 412, lines 16-18). (emphasis added). Dr. Travis also stated that "the [electrical shock] **could** of started the whole domino effect." (R. p. 427, line 23-24). (emphasis added). Finally, Dr. Travis indicated that the neck pain Claimant experienced "could be just neck pain." (R. p. 428, lines 12-16).

Dr. Travis indicated that part of his opinion formed because of the presence of a plaque on Claimant's heart. However, Dr. Travis stated that this was his first open heart

surgery on a patient who had received an electrical shock. (R. p. 427, lines 2-5). Further, Dr. Travis stated that he had never “read about or seen anything” related to whether or not the plaque he observed is related to electrical shock or whether or not the plaque he observed is common in electrical shock. (R. p. 427, lines 6-12). Following the care provided to Claimant, Dr. Travis issued a written opinion stating Claimant’s heart condition was caused by the electrical shock.

After the surgery, Claimant began treating with Dr. Lide on an outpatient basis for his heart condition. In his deposition, Dr. Lide stated that no one knows what causes a plaque rupture in the heart. (R. p. 360, lines 13-15). Dr. Lide agreed with the statement that “...we don’t really know what causes plaque rupture.” (R. p. 360, line 22). Dr. Lide also testified that “I don’t know whether the electrical shock caused the plaque rupture... .” (R. p. 361, lines 14-15). Further, Dr. Lide testified that he is not familiar with any research and he has not conducted any research on whether an electrical shock can cause a myocardial infarction or a ventricular septal defect. (R. p. 365, line 13-p. 366, line 1). Dr. Lide also indicated that the longer in time the heart condition develops from the precipitating event (in this case an electrical shock), the less likely it is the heart condition is related to the electrical shock. (R. p. 366, lines 2-6). Finally, Dr. Lide stated his overwhelming evidence that the electrical shock caused Claimant’s condition was “proximity in time.” (R. p. 367, lines 20-21). Dr. Lide issued a written opinion stating Claimant’s heart condition was caused by the electrical shock.

**I. THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED BY FAILING TO VACATE THE SINGLE COMMISSIONER'S DECISION AND ORDER BECAUSE THE SINGLE COMMISSIONER ERRED BY HOLDING THE HEARING OVER DEFENDANT-APPELLANTS' OBJECTIONS BECAUSE, BY CONDUCTING THE HEARING AND RULING ON MATERIAL COMPENSABILITY ISSUES, THE SINGLE COMMISSIONER OPERATED IN AN APPELLATE CAPACITY WITHOUT PROPER JURISDICTION.**

Claimant has alleged an injury arising out of an electrical shock accident on May 22, 2013. Prior to the hearing held by the Single Commissioner, Commissioner Beck issued a Decision and Order on December 5, 2013 finding that Defendants had conducted a good faith investigation. In addition, in that Decision and Order, Commissioner Beck made a factually correct finding based on the medical evidence submitted that Claimant suffered a myocardial infarction on May 28, 2013 (6 days post-accident). That finding, along with many others from that order, was appealed by Claimant in a properly filed Form 30. At the time of this underlying hearing before the Single Commissioner, the Full Commission had not yet conducted a hearing on Commissioner Beck's Decision and Order and, therefore, each of the exceptions to his order were on appeal—including the May 28, 2013 date of the myocardial infarction.

A review of the medical evidence and deposition testimony reveals that Claimant's ventricular septal defect was caused by his acute myocardial infarction/plaque rupture<sup>1</sup>. In other words, the medical evidence is clear that the electrical shock did not

---

<sup>1</sup> The medical records and testimony indicate the plaque rupture was contemporaneous with the acute myocardial infarction and that it was either caused by the acute myocardial infarction or the acute myocardial infarction was caused by the plaque rupture. The doctors' testimony indicates that it is not possible to know which occurred first. For continuity and clarity throughout, acute myocardial infarction will be used in this brief.

directly cause the ventricular septal defect. Rather, the acute myocardial infarction caused the ventricular septal defect. Further, there is no dispute between the parties that the cause of the ventricular septal defect is the acute myocardial infarction. The question of compensability before the Single Commissioner for Claimant's chest and/or heart condition therefore was simply "what caused Claimant's acute myocardial infarction?"

In order to make that determination and answer that question, the Single Commissioner was required to make findings related to when (i.e. the date) the acute myocardial infarction occurred. The Single Commissioner expressly refused to make that finding<sup>2</sup>. It was Defendant-Appellants' position that an acute myocardial infarction occurring 6 days post-accident cannot be causally related to the work-accident itself because it is too attenuated in time. Defendant-Appellants' position is that Claimant's pre-existing conditions, family history, lifestyle choices, and mere coincidence in time, as affirmed by each authorized treating physician, are the causative factors of the acute myocardial infarction occurring 6 days post-accident. When all of Claimant's conditions are viewed together, the evidence clearly supports a finding that the acute myocardial infarction in relation to the work-accident is nothing more than an unfortunately timed coincidence.

However, Defendants' position as to compensability aside, the Single Commissioner was required to make a finding indicating when Claimant suffered an acute myocardial infarction in order for there to be legal support for a finding of a causal

---

<sup>2</sup> See both Single Commissioner Decision and Order and Single Commissioner Hearing Transcript 5:23-8:9 wherein the Single Commissioner sets out her "procedural wiggle room" to go forward despite the prior Commission findings.

connection between the acute ventricular septal defect and the electrical shock<sup>3</sup>. Absent a requirement to make a finding of when the causative injury occurred (in this case the acute myocardial infarction), the door would be opened to find compensability for injuries that occur 1 month, 6 months, 1 year or more from the date of an alleged accident.

In the Decision and Order, the Single Commissioner, by choosing to expressly refuse to find the date on which the acute myocardial infarction occurred, implicitly made findings that result in one of two things: (1) an affirmation of Commissioner Beck's finding of the May 28, 2013 date of acute myocardial infarction or (2) a reversal of Commissioner Beck's finding of the May 28, 2013 date of acute myocardial infarction<sup>4</sup>. Either way, the Single Commissioner sat in an unlawful appellate capacity when she both heard this claim and rendered her Decision and Order by either implicitly affirming or reversing Commissioner Beck's findings as compensability of the acute ventricular septal defect **cannot** be determined absent a finding of **when** the acute myocardial infarction occurred.

For the foregoing reasons, the Full Commission's Decision and Order should be vacated in its entirety as the underlying Single Commissioner Hearing could not have

---

<sup>3</sup> As noted throughout, the causative chain at issue is whether the (1) Electrical Shock caused the (2) Acute Myocardial Infarction/Plaque Rupture which then caused the (3) Ventricular Septal Defect. If the acute myocardial infarction was not caused by the electrical shock then the ventricular septal defect is not compensable.

<sup>4</sup> In other words, the Single Commissioner, by not ruling on the timing of the acute myocardial infarction, either acknowledges the acute myocardial infarction occurred May 28 (6 days post-accident) and finds that it is still causally related to the electrical shock (which is addressed below) OR the Single Commissioner determined the acute myocardial infarction occurred earlier in time and simply refused to enumerate that finding of fact so as to avoid inherent conflict with Commissioner Beck's prior Decision and Order that is on appeal.

been held because the Single Commissioner sat in an unlawful appellate capacity. Further, this claim should be remanded for a new hearing at the Single Commissioner level with instructions that the hearing cannot be conducted until the first appeal of Commissioner Beck's Decision and Order has been allowed to run its course and the issues related to the date of the acute myocardial infarction are resolved.

**II. THE FULL COMMISSION ERRED BY FAILING TO FIND A DATE ON WHICH CLAIMANT SUFFERED A PLAQUE RUPTURE IN CLAIMANT'S HEART.**

As discussed above, there has been no finding of *when* Claimant actually suffered any injury<sup>5</sup>. The sequence of medical events in this claim is not disputed. Claimant suffered an electrical shock at work on May 22, 2013. Sometime between May 23, 2013 and May 28, 2013 Claimant suffered an acute myocardial infarction/plaque rupture<sup>6</sup>. The acute myocardial infarction/plaque rupture led to Claimant developing an acute ventricular septal defect. The ventricular septal defect developed as a result of the acute myocardial infarction/plaque rupture required surgical intervention on May 29, 2013.

As previously noted, the key to determining whether or not Claimant's ventricular septal defect is compensable is determining whether or not the plaque rupture was caused by the electrical shock. If the electrical shock did not cause the plaque rupture then the ventricular septal defect **cannot** be found to be compensable as it was directly caused by the plaque rupture. In order to find that the plaque rupture was caused by the electrical shock, the Full Commission must find the date on which the plaque rupture occurred. Absent a finding of when Claimant suffered the injury (the plaque rupture) that led to his

---

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