THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

RECEIVED

Appellate Case No. 2014-001788 FEB 17 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Clarence Winfrey, Employee, Claimant, Respondent,

v.

Archway Services, Inc., Employer,
and American Fire & Casualty Insurance
Company c/o Liberty Mutual Group, Carrier, Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Preston F. McDaniel, Esquire
MCDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 771-7211

Attorney for Respondent

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2014-001788

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE FULL COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY AFFIRMING THE HEARING COMMISSIONER'S DECISION TO HOLD THE HEARING AND RULE ON THE ISSUES BEFORE HER FOR DECISION AND IN SO DOING SHE DID NOT ACT IN AN APPELLATE CAPACITY.

The Appellants arguments under Argument I are very confusing and are contradictory. The Appellants on the one hand argue that Commissioner Beck's prior Order concerning a Form 15 Hearing (wherein the sole issue before him was reinstatement of benefits for improper stop payment, and although it was on appeal and while admitting any findings in that Order were not the law of the case), in some way precluded a Hearing and decision on a Form 50 claim for a determination of compensability and proof of the essential factual issues necessary to such an Award, (i.e., injury by accident, compensability and entitlement to benefits) with which Commissioner Barden was charged with deciding. On the other hand or in some way connected, they argue she should have addressed certain issues that they wanted addressed (ex., when the myocardial infarction occurred) as part of her Decision which were not part of the essential factual and legal issues before her for decision. Commissioner Barden properly heard the evidence before her and ruled on those "essential factual issues" making detailed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on

those "essential factual issues" in reaching her Decision to support her factual and legal conclusions on the essential issues that the Respondent had proved by a preponderance of the evidence under the provisions of the Act and under the law as defined by our Appellate Court decisions: that he had sustained injury by accident; that his injury/problems with his heart stemmed from the accident; and that he was entitled to medical care and temporary total disability compensation. Drake v. Raybestos-Manhattan, Inc., 241 S.C. 116, 127 S.E.2d 288 (1962).

After the Appellants denied injury by accident and compensability in the Form 15 dated September 12, 2013, the Respondent filed a Form 50 Claim and Request for Hearing requesting that the claim be determined to be compensable and awarding him temporary compensation benefits and medical benefits for the injuries which needed treatment at the time of the hearing as stemming from the accident. The Appellants filed a Form 51 and the issues were joined and those were the issues before Commissioner Barden for decision. It was the Claimant's position that the severe injuries to the Claimant's heart for which he was being treated were caused by the electrocution injury that he sustained. Specifically in his Pre-Hearing Brief he

delineated the factual issues and his request for benefits under the Act as follows:

- "b. The Claimant would submit that the evidence establishes that he sustained a compensable injury and is entitled to reinstatement of temporary compensation benefits . . . ;
- c. Medical care from the date that medical care was stopped being authorized and continuing until the Claimant reaches maximum medical improvement"

Therefore the issues before the Commissioner were whether the Respondent had sustained compensable injury; whether in reference to this appeal his heart related problems were causally related to the injury; whether he was entitled to temporary total disability benefits; and whether he was entitled to medical care for all injuries resulting from the accident. Appropriately the Commissioner entered a decision on those, "essential factual issues". (See Footnote 2).

When a claimant files a request for benefits which is denied and is the moving party before the Commission, the claimant has the burden of proof and must establish by a preponderance of the evidence (facts) that he is entitled to an Award under the Workers' Compensation Act. Walsh v. US Rubber Co., 238 S.C. 411, 120 S.S.E.2d 685 (1961). Further the Decision of the Commissioner must be based on the facts and cannot be based upon surmise, conjecture or speculation.

Solar v. Sunny Slope Farms, 244 S.C. 6, 135 S.E.2d 321 (1964). In making its decision, the Commission may rely on lay/witness evidence, circumstantial evidence and/or medical opinion evidence. Rollins v. Wunda Weve Carpet Co., 255 S.C. 1, 177 S.E.2d 5 (1970). (lay testimony sufficient to establish compensable injury and disability); Grice v. Dickerson, Inc., 241 S.C. 225, 127 S.E.2d 722 (1962) (circumstantial evidence sufficient to support award); Tiller v. National Home Healthcare, 334 S.C. 333, 513 S.E.2d 843 (1999) (expert opinion alone sufficient to support award).

In this case it was the Claimant's burden of proof to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the injuries to the Claimant's heart stemmed from the electrocution injury thus entitling him to compensation. The Claimant testified to the facts of the electrocution injury and that from the very minute of that electrocution, he had severe pain in his neck, arm and shoulder that ran as far up as into his head and ear and into the front part of his chest over his collarbone area. (R., p. 501, ll. 18-25). His three (3) treating physicians (all treating physicians in fact) testified that in their opinions the injuries to his heart stemmed from the electrocution injury. (R., pp. 410-412; 414-415; 421-423; 89; R., p. 382, ll. 6-20; R., p. 21).

Clearly there is a preponderance of the evidence to support the Commissioner's Decision finding that the Claimant has sustained compensable injury.

Further, the Hearing Commissioner's Decision had to be based on the evidence before her, and emphasis is placed on "before her", and based on the evidence before her, the Hearing Commissioner found that the Claimant had established a compensable injury stemming from the May 22nd electrocution injury.

In reference to the argument that the Commissioner in some way was acting in an appellate capacity, that is simply wrong. She was charged with the responsibility of hearing the "essential issues" and making a decision on the issues raised by the Forms 50 and 51 which she did; she based that decision on the evidence before her and her analysis of the evidence and made detailed Findings of Fact as required. See Drake v. Raybestos-Manhattan, Inc., supra, and also Fox v. Newberry County, 319 S.C. 278, 461 S.E.2d 392 (1995).

Finally, there is no requirement that the Commissioner make a decision as to when the myocardial infarction occurred. The essential factual issue upon which she had to make a decision and which was submitted to her for decision was whether the Claimant's heart related problems stemmed from the accident; i.e., the electrocution injury that

occurred on May 22nd. She appropriately made her Findings of Fact based on the law addressed to that issue. See for example: Ricker v. Village Management Corp., 231 S.C. 47, 97 S.E.2d 83 (1957) (Claimant felt sharp pain and continued to work with recurring pain for three days and on third day, pain so intense hospitalized); Randolph v. Fiske-Carter Construction Co., 240 S.C. 182, 125 S.E.2d 267. (1962); (accident 5/20/60; heart attack 11/6/60 - 6 months later).

Finally besides the fact that as to when the myocardial infarction specifically occurred was not paramount to the decision on the issues before the Commissioner and while trying to bootstrap Commissioner Beck's dicta decision, which they admit was not the law of the case, into establishing as a fact as to when the myocardial infarction occurred, the Defendants did not ask any one of the treating doctors as to when in their opinion the myocardial infarction occurred; and also did not specifically ask the question "Doctor, in your opinion did the myocardial infarction occur on the 28th?" There was simply no evidence before Commissioner Barden on that specific issue and for her to make a decision in that regard, specifically as to the position of the Defendants,

would make her decision the subject of and based on surmise, conjecture or speculation.¹ The issue is without merit.

II. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY FAILING TO MAKE A FINDING ON THE NON-ESSENTIAL ISSUE AS TO THE DATE THAT THE CLAIMANT SUFFERED A PLAQUE RUPTURE.

As is set out in Argument I, there is simply no requirement that the Commissioner make a Finding of Fact as to the time of the plaque rupture. The Commissioner was charged with making Findings of Fact as to whether or not the Claimant's injuries to his heart stemmed from the work-related accident and as to whether he had sustained compensable injury by accident.

Quoting from Commissioner's Finding of Fact No. 9:

"three physicians have all opined to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the electric shock ultimately resulted in Claimant's heart attack, regardless of the date on which the infarction occurred . . .".

She goes on to quote explicitly from all the doctors' depositions supporting that Finding.

It is somewhat ironic that the Defendants would cite the case of Cross v. Concrete Materials, 236 S.C. 440, 114 S.E.2d 828 (1960) in support of this argument in that in the Cross case benefits were denied because there was simply a lack of medical opinion evidence stated to a reasonable

¹ Without citation, the Appellants state that the plaque rupture was "contemporaneous" with the myocardial infarction which is simply not accurate. See R., pp. 360-362.

degree of certainty that the Claimant's condition stemmed from the accident. The Cross case simply stated black letter law which is that, "when testimony of medical experts is relied upon to establish causal connection between an accident and subsequent disability or death, in order to establish such, the opinion of the experts must be at least that the disability or death 'most probably' resulted from accidental injury." (Emp. add.) In this case, not only one (1) but three (3) different doctors all testified that in their opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty the Claimant's injuries to his heart stemmed from the work-related electrocution injury. There is simply no requirement that the Commissioner make a Finding as to the time when the plaque rupture occurred. The Respondent would also point out that the Court's review of the evidence before Commissioner Barden will establish that plaque rupturing resulting in a blockage and myocardial infarction which led to the septal defect is only one of the scenarios that the doctors opined could have resulted from the electrical shock. (See Footnote 1). However there is no question or difference of opinion in any of the three (3) doctors who treated the Respondent (and particularly Dr. Travis who did the heart surgery, held the Claimant's heart in his hand, and who witnessed the entrance and exit wounds

in his heart), that the electrical shock caused the injuries to his heart. The issue is without merit.

III. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY FAILING TO MAKE A FINDING ON THE NON-ESSENTIAL ISSUE OF WHAT CAUSED THE PLAQUE RUPTURE IN THE CLAIMANT'S HEART.

As set out in Argument I and II, the essential factual issue before the Commission for decision was whether or not the Claimant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he had sustained compensable injury by accident and that that injury resulted in the injuries to his heart. The issue is without merit.

IV. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY FAILING TO FIND A DATE ON WHICH THE CLAIMANT SUFFERED A MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION.

For all the reasons as set forth in Argument I, II, and III and without again quoting Finding of Fact #9 quoted in Argument II, the same legal arguments and factual arguments apply and the issue is without merit.

V. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY RELYING ON DR. TRAVIS' MEDICAL OPINIONS AS EXPRESSED BOTH IN WRITTEN DOCUMENTS AND IN HIS DEPOSITION TESTIMONY.

This argument made by the Appellants by pulling "piece-mill" out of Dr. Travis' deposition does not reflect his opinions as expressed in the deposition and as previously expressed in his written report. The doctor specifically reiterated that his opinions as expressed in his letter of September 30th represented his opinions.

concerning the causation of the Claimant's problems. (R., p. 420, ll. 20-25). The doctor then went through and specifically detailed the sequence of events that occurred and the problems that resulted from the electrical shock leading to all of the injuries to the heart and to his need for treatment (R., p. 421, l. 1 - p. 423, l. 9), at the end of which the doctor again stated his opinion specifically:

"But that electrical shock was the thing that pushed the first domino over and everything that we saw after that followed it. That's just my opinion."
(R., p. 423, ll. 6-9).

Then again the doctor reiterated:

"Q: Doctor, this is a report that was issued on September 30th. I believe you dictated that, does that represent your opinions in reference to the causation issue and your opinions about what caused Mr. Winfrey's condition?

A: That is correct.

Q: Is that your opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty?

A: It is."
(R., p. 424, ll. 6-20).

The issue is without merit and is a total misstatement of the doctor's testimony.

VI. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN RELYING ON THE WRITTEN MEDICAL OPINION AND THE TESTIMONY OF DR. LIDE IN MAKING ITS FINDINGS AND RULING.

Quoting from Dr. Lide's deposition:

Q: "But in your opinion, based on this history and everything you observed and your conversations with Mr. Winfrey and this history and development of his problems, is it your opinion that - - that this electrical shock, is it still your opinion that this electrical shock caused all the problems that lead to him coming to see you?"

A: That is my opinion.

Q: Ok.

A: - - that - - that the electrical shock was the approximate cause of -
- of all this illness.

Q: Ok and that is stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty?

A: As certain as I can be."
(R., p. 382, ll. 6-14).

The issue is without merit.

VII. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY RELYING ON THE WRITTEN AND TESTIMONIAL OPINIONS EXPRESSED BY DR. GREENFIELD IN MAKING HER FINDINGS OF FACT THAT THE CLAIMANT HAD SUSTAINED COMPENSABLE INJURY.

Dr. Karen Greenfield testified:

"Q: Ok. Alright. And the opinion that you were kind enough to write to us, you -
- that still remains your opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty?"

A: Right."
(R., p. 324, ll. 2-6).

The Hearing Commissioner did not err by relying on the opinions of Dr. Greenfield. The issue is without merit.

VIII. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN FINDING OF FACT #7 BY FINDING THAT THE CLAIMANT BEGAN SWEATING THE NIGHT OF THE ELECTRICAL SHOCK.

While as set forth below the evidence supports the Commissioner's Finding, before addressing this issue by setting out the evidence that supports the Finding, according to the medical expert testimony whether or not and when the Respondent sweated is totally irrelevant and is absolutely unimportant in reference to the issues before the Commissioner for decision or in reference to a myocardial infarction. Therefore, this issue was nothing but the Appellants trying to get the Commission to chase rabbits, which is an old saying that comes from fox hunting. When your dogs are on the scent of the fox and you are on the, "hunt", you don't want your dogs to start chasing rabbits and want them to keep their eye on the prize, the fox.

Dr. Lanneau Lide testified answering Defense Counsel:

"Q: And that is a symptom of suffering from a myocardial infarction; is that right?

A: That is a symptom of suffering from illness. Period.

Q: Okay.

A: That is so non-specific a symptom that it doesn't tell you. It doesn't lead you in any - - any specific direction."

* * *

"Q: His sweating didn't start until 24 hours after the electrical shock, would that be indicative of when the myocardial infarction occurred?

A: I don't think that - - I don't think you can time anything by the onset of sweating."
(R., p. 363, l. 25 - p. 364, l. 7; p. 364, ll. 19-24).

With that point made, in reference to the Commissioner's Finding, Dr. Karen Greenfield gave the following answer:

"A: The only thing that I wrote down there was - - I guess it was on Thursday when he was shocked. And he said he had some sweating issues that evening - - ."
(R., p. 311, ll. 15-18).

In her report she recorded:

"Rotisserie shock on Thursday, sweated Thursday PM."
(R., p. 156).

The testimony of the Claimant on sweating was to being dripping wet sweating on Friday morning. (R., p. 499, ll. 10-17). The issue is without merit.

IX. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN MAKING FINDING OF FACT #9 THAT ALL THREE (3) TREATING PHYSICIANS HAD OPINED THE ELECTRICAL SHOCK RESULTED IN CLAIMANT'S HEART ATTACK (ACTUALLY HEART RELATED INJURIES) AND NOT INCLUDING A DATE ON WHICH THE, "HEART ATTACK" OCCURRED.

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